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            FOREWORD

            
        BY SIMON WESTON CBE
      

         

         It is incredible to think that nearly forty years have passed since the Falklands War. The conflict between the United Kingdom and Argentina not only ended many young lives; it also changed several more for ever, my own included. I received 46 per cent burns to my body when the troop ship RFA Sir Galahad was bombed and destroyed by enemy aircraft while anchored in the inappropriately named (for me, at least) Port Pleasant, off the Falkland Islands, on 8 June 1982. I was the worst injured man on the ship, the worst injured serviceman to make it home alive, and I spent the best part of five years in hospital undergoing more than ninety operations.

         People have repeatedly said that I was unlucky, but forty-eight men who died on my ship would have loved to have had my bad luck – they would have loved to have had the problems I faced as I recovered from my injuries. When I went to war, I was a carefree twenty-year-old lad who was proud to have served in the Welsh Guards since I was sixteen and happy to have played prop forward for more rugby teams than I can remember. However, that all ended on the fateful day when our ship was bombed and the resulting explosions turned it into a giant fireball. My physical appearance changed at a stroke, but it took years for me to adapt mentally to the new, reconstructed Simon Weston that I am today: xiva former soldier, a wartime survivor, a charity worker and, some say, with great generosity of spirit, an inspiration to others.

         I am delighted that Lord Ashcroft, who has championed bravery for the past fifteen years, has chosen to mark the fortieth anniversary of the Falklands War by writing a book that highlights the gallantry of so many British servicemen and women – both those who gave their lives during the 1982 conflict and those who survived.

         I have long been an admirer of Lord Ashcroft’s work in the areas of valour and the military. He has built up four major collections of gallantry medals, including the largest collection of Victoria Crosses (VCs) in the world. He has supported countless military charities, including making a donation of £1 million to the £7 million Bomber Command Memorial that was unveiled by Her Majesty the Queen in 2012.

         Furthermore, Falklands War Heroes is the seventh book by Lord Ashcroft in his ‘Heroes’ series, and it does exactly what it says on the tin: it tells the stories of bravery during the ten-week war through the incredible medal collection he has amassed over the past four decades. This book will bring courageous deeds to a global audience; each write-up has been diligently researched and each story is carefully told. Furthermore, every penny of the author’s royalties will be donated to military charities.

         I commend Lord Ashcroft for penning an inspirational book about men and women whose valour deserves to be championed for many decades to come. These are heroes of the Falklands War – heroes of my time – and I salute the gallantry and service of each and every one of them.
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         For more information on Lord Ashcroft’s work on bravery visit:

         www.LordAshcroftOnBravery.com
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         www.LordAshcroft.com
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xix
            PREFACE

         

         The Falklands War was an extraordinary conflict in many ways. It could easily prove to be the last colonial war that Britain ever fights. Whether or not that is the case, it is remarkable that Britain sent a force of some 20,000 men to fight for a small cluster of islands 8,000 miles away that were home to only 1,820 people – and 400,000 sheep.

         This book has been published to mark the fortieth anniversary of the Falklands War. Many books have already been written about the war, all of them offering some insight – large or small – into the events in the South Atlantic during ten weeks from early April to mid-June 1982.

         Between 2 April, when Argentina invaded the Falklands, and 14 June, when Argentina unconditionally surrendered and returned the islands to British control, 255 British military personnel, 649 Argentine military personnel and three Falkland Islanders died as a result of the hostilities. In all, 907 lives were lost, while 2,432 men were wounded in battle and many were left scarred, physically and mentally, by their experiences in fighting for islands that covered an area of some 4,700 square miles.

         This book is not an attempt to shed new light on some of the biggest controversies surrounding the war. For example, should it have been avoided in the first place? Should Britain have strengthened the defences on the Falkland Islands as tensions grew? Did we really need to resort to fighting? Should we have attacked the xxArgentine cruiser the General Belgrano? Was the battle for Goose Green fought too recklessly? Should we have fought the war differently? And so on. Indeed, most of these controversies have been addressed extensively over the past four decades.

         Quite simply, this was a war that Britain fought – and won. Almost forty years on, this book seeks to highlight the courage of many of those who risked, and in some cases gave, their lives for the rights of those men, women and children on the Falkland Islands to continue to live there free of Argentine control. This is a book crammed full of stories of derring-do, in some cases what I call cold or premeditated courage, in other cases spur-of-the-moment gallantry. The common thread that runs through the book is my admiration for the valour of our servicemen fighting a difficult war so far from their homeland. It should not be forgotten, however, that women played an important role in the war too, and one of those heroines, a nurse serving on the hospital ship SS Uganda, features as a write-up in this book.

         I am often described as a military historian, but I see myself much more as a champion of bravery and a storyteller. This is my seventh book in the ‘Heroes’ series, and like most of the previous ones it is based on one of my many collections of gallantry and service medals – this one entirely centred on the Falklands War. What makes this collection so exceptional is that the medals cover virtually all the key events that took place in the war: on land, at sea and in the air. The medals also span the full length of the war: from shortly after the conflict started, via all the major battles that were fought and up until it was eventually brought to a close.

      

   


   
      
         
xxi
            INTRODUCTION:

THE BUILD-UP TO WAR

         

         The Falkland Islands is an archipelago in the South Atlantic Ocean made up of East Falkland, West Falkland and some 776 smaller islands. Altogether, they form a land mass of some 4,700 square miles. The islands lie approximately 300 miles off South America’s Patagonia coast.

         The Falkland Islands is one of fourteen British Overseas Territories, which means it is self-governed but its residents rely on the British government for their defence and their foreign policy. Over the centuries, the islands were ‘discovered’ and exploited by colonialists. At various times, there have been British, French, Spanish and Argentine settlements on the islands.

         Britain reasserted its rule over the Falklands in 1833, but since then Argentina has made numerous claims to the islands. These claims were voiced louder during the 1960s, especially after the United Nations passed Resolution 2065 calling on both countries to conduct bilateral negotiations to reach a peaceful settlement of the dispute. In the 1970s, tensions simmered after the Falkland Islanders made it clear that they wished to remain British.

         In 1981, Argentina was ruled by a military junta that included army Commander General Leopoldo Galtieri. During that year, Argentina’s previously fragile relationship with America improved, and Galtieri visited Washington before ousting Roberto Viola as President in December 1981.xxii

         Galtieri became convinced that seizing ‘Las Malvinas’, as the Falklands are known in Argentina, would help unite the country and increase his personal popularity. Within a short time of becoming President, he was exploring how to invade the islands using his country’s navy and, at the same time, assessing the likely response of Britain and other countries to such an act of aggression.

         In early 1982, tensions rose still further, but in the UK Lord Carrington, the Foreign Secretary who was eventually to resign his post three days after the start of war on 5 April, and Richard Luce, the minister responsible for the Falklands, did not believe an invasion was imminent. With government spending under careful scrutiny, they did not see the need to send Royal Navy ships to the South Atlantic to reinforce HMS Endurance, an ice-patrol vessel already in the area but which was due for imminent decommissioning.

         On 19 March 1982, a group of civilian scrap-metal workers arrived illegally on South Georgia, another British territory in the South Atlantic, and hoisted the Argentine flag. Their arrival at Leith Harbour alerted a British Antarctic Survey (BAS) team, the only British presence on the island, which, in turn, sent messages to London and to Rex Hunt, the Governor of the Falklands. At the time, South Georgia was run as a dependency of the Falklands.

         At the request of the British, the Argentine flag was eventually lowered, but when diplomatic niceties were ignored, Hunt, in consultation with the British government, despatched Endurance from Port Stanley, the capital of the Falklands, to South Georgia with a detachment of twenty-two Royal Marines. Endurance left on 21 March and arrived off the BAS station at Grytviken, South Georgia, three days later.

         On 26 March, the Argentine junta apparently decided to bring forward their plan to invade the Falklands, previously intended for much later in the year when they knew Endurance would be out of the area. With the situation escalating, the British government xxiiidecided on 29 March to send two nuclear submarines to the South Atlantic.

         By 1 April, appropriately enough April Fool’s Day, Hunt summoned two senior Royal Marine officers to Government House and declared, ‘It looks as if the buggers mean it.’ Later that evening, having made some very basic plans to patrol and defend key targets, the Governor made a radio broadcast to the islanders, saying, ‘There is mounting evidence the Argentine Armed Forces are preparing to invade the Falklands.’ Having deployed his small force of Marines on the outskirts of Port Stanley with orders to resist an attack, Hunt declared a State of Emergency in the early hours of 2 April.

         Minutes later, Argentine commandos landed on the Falklands – at Mullet Creek, 3 miles south of Port Stanley. At 6 a.m., they launched an attack on the barracks at Moody Brook, employing phosphorus grenades and automatic fire against a non-existent force – fortunately, the Marines had left the previous day.

         As the Argentine forces advanced on Government House, they were briefly held back by the small force of Marines. During a two-hour gun battle, at least two Argentine soldiers were killed. However, by 8 a.m., despite one of their landing craft being hit by an anti-tank weapon, the Argentine reinforcements streamed into Port Stanley. By 8.30 a.m., and by that point cut off from communications with London, Hunt had surrendered. The British had suffered no casualties, but the Marines had the indignity of being photographed face down on the ground. Hunt, meanwhile, was taken by taxi to the airport and flown by an Argentine Hercules aircraft to Montevideo, the capital of Uruguay. Argentina was firmly in control of the Falkland Islands – but for how long?

      

   


   
      
         
1
            CHAPTER 1

            OPENING SHOTS

         

         South Georgia and the South Sandwich Islands, like its better-known ‘neighbour’ the Falkland Islands, is a British Overseas Territory in the South Atlantic Ocean. The islands are remote and inhospitable. The largest island, South Georgia, is just over 100 miles long and 22 miles wide. The chain of smaller islands 430 miles to the south-east of South Georgia is known as the South Sandwich Islands. The area of the whole territory is just over 1,500 square miles, and the Falkland Islands lie some 810 miles west of its nearest point.

         At any one time, there is a very small permanent population on South Georgia and no permanent population on the South Sandwich Islands. There are no scheduled flights or ferries to the territory, although cruise ships do sometimes stop to allow their passengers to take a look at the islands, particularly since the dramatic events of 1982.

         As with the Falkland Islands, the rights to South Georgia and the South Sandwich Islands have long been disputed. The UK claimed sovereignty over South Georgia in 1775 and over the South Sandwich Islands in 1908. However, Argentina claimed South Georgia in 1927 and claimed the South Sandwich Islands in 1938. In the build-up to the Falklands War, South Georgia was governed as part of the Falkland Islands Dependencies (although this came to an end in 1985, when South Georgia and the South Sandwich Islands became a separate territory).

         The troubles in the South Atlantic began on 19 March 1982, when a group of civilian scrap-metal workers arrived at Leith Harbour on board the transport ship ARA Bahía Buen Suceso. The group did not 2possess the required landing clearance and then raised the Argentine flag. It later emerged that the scrap workers had been infiltrated by Argentine Marines posing as scientists.

         The only British presence at Leith on 19 March was a British Antarctic Survey (BAS) team, whose leader, Trefor Edwards, handed a message from London to the Commander of the Argentine ship, Captain Briatore, ordering the removal of the Argentine flag and the departure of the party. It was also demanded that the Argentine crew report to the top BAS Commander in Grytviken, Steve Martin.

         Initially, Briatore replied that the mission had the approval of the British Embassy in Buenos Aires – a clear lie. The Argentine Captain eventually ordered the lowering of the flag but failed to report to Grytviken. These events prompted the BAS Commander to send a message to Rex Hunt, the Governor of the Falkland Islands. After consulting with London, Hunt was instructed to despatch HMS Endurance to South Georgia with a detachment of twenty-two Marines. The Marines landed on South Georgia on 31 March.

         Until this point, Endurance and Bahía Paraíso, an Argentine naval ship, played a game of cat and mouse around South Georgia, but then they lost track of each other. And as March gave way to April, matters took a sinister turn…

         
            KEITH PAUL MILLS

            Service: Royal Marines

            Final Rank: Captain

            FALKANDS WAR DECORATION / DISTINCTION:

            DISTINGUISHED SERVICE CROSS (DSC)

            DATE OF BRAVERY: 3 APRIL 1982

            GAZETTED: 4 JUNE 1982

         

         Cometh the hour, cometh the man. Keith Paul Mills was a 22-year-old Lieutenant in the Royal Marines when he faced the greatest 3challenge of his life: how to defend a remote British outpost from a much larger invading force. He could not be reckless with the lives of his men, for whom he had a duty of care. For his actions back in early April 1982, he would be decorated with the DSC and feted back home as a war hero.

         Mills was born on 5 June 1959 in Abingdon, Berkshire. The middle of three children and the son of an engineer, Mills was just four when his family moved to Harlech, in the north Wales county of Gwynedd, due to his father’s work in the nuclear power industry. Later, they moved to nearby Anglesey, where Mills spent the rest of his childhood and was educated at his local primary school and Syr Thomas Jones secondary school, both in Amlwch, the most northerly town in Wales. At his secondary school, he became the first-ever English head boy.

         After leaving school at eighteen, he decided not to become an engineer as his father had hoped, giving up the offer of a place at the University of Liverpool to read electronics. Instead, he decided to join the Royal Marines, learning in May 1978 that he had been accepted for officer training at Lympstone, Devon, starting in September of that year. Even before joining the Marines as a Second Lieutenant, Mills was a talented sportsman – a black belt in judo and a keen mountaineer – and he was looking for a job that would challenge him physically and mentally.

         On completing his course, Mills was appointed to 41 Commando as a troop Commander, still in the rank of Second Lieutenant. During this period and aged just nineteen, he qualified as a jungle warfare instructor in Brunei. The unit then completed a tour of duty with the United Nations in Cyprus and an operational tour in South Armagh, Northern Ireland, during the height of The Troubles. Next, he was appointed to 45 Commando as a company second-in-command, and he completed Arctic warfare training in Norway. In 1981, he was appointed to the Antarctic patrol ship HMS Endurance. 4

         As detailed in the introduction to this chapter, he and his men had been despatched to South Georgia from the Falkland Islands to eject the scrap-metal dealers who had illegally arrived and put up the Argentine flag on 19 March. Again as detailed in the introduction, the situation had become more serious as March turned to April. In fact, when Mills and his men had landed on South Georgia from Endurance on 31 March, even then a full-scale invasion of the Falklands seemed an unlikely scenario to the British. Both Captain Nick Barker, in command of Endurance, and Mills thought the crisis would probably ‘blow over’ in a few days. Before dropping off the Royal Marine detachment, Barker told Mills to defend the British scientists but not to alarm them by saying that they were in any danger. Barker also told Mills that there should be no radio communication between them, as that could indicate the position of Endurance to the enemy. The rules of engagement for Mills and his men were that they could only open fire in self-defence or in the process of saving a life. The party went ashore with 20,000 rounds of ammunition – just in case.

         We now know that the Argentine force planned to invade South Georgia on 2 April but were put off by the terrible weather, including a force 12 gale. However, the Argentine ship Bahía Paraíso had entered the main bay at South Georgia that day and had sent a radio communication to the British base saying it would return the next day with a ‘very important message’. Mills and his men were, by this point, aware of the invasion of the Falkland Islands, and so they started to ‘dig in’ and prepare to defend the island. Mills also decided to break radio silence with Endurance, radioing, ‘The Argentinians have made contact with us and will do so again tomorrow morning. What are our instructions?’ Much later in the day, the reply came back from Endurance: ‘When the Argentinians make contact with you, you are not to co-operate.’ However, Mills was understandably left puzzled by just how much of a fight that 5meant he should put up. He replied, ‘Your last message is ambiguous. Please clarify.’

         Very early the next day, Endurance sent Mills a further message: ‘When asked to surrender, you are not to do so.’ When Mills relayed this message to his men, there were whoops and hollers of delight; they were up for a firefight, but until this moment they had feared that they would have to surrender without any resistance. Half an hour later, however, yet another message came through from Endurance: ‘The OCRM [Officer in Charge Royal Marines] is not, repeat not, to take any action that would endanger life.’ Mills was thoroughly confused and confided the final message only to Sergeant Major Peter Leach, his second-in-command. Mills told Leach that he had decided not to pass this message on to the rest of the men in case it ‘muddied the waters’ over what they could and could not do as and when the enemy arrived to take the island. By this point, too, explosives had been placed on the main jetty, ready to be detonated if the enemy invaded.

         So, at dawn on 3 April 1982, Mills was in charge of a force of twenty-two Royal Marines, including himself, defending South Georgia and thirteen British scientists. The situation facing him could hardly have been more challenging. The previous day, an Argentine force had invaded the Falkland Islands, forcing Rex Hunt to surrender after a short-lived battle. Meanwhile, Endurance was at sea midway between the Falklands and South Georgia, making its way to the latter. Captain Nick Barker was, in turn, in touch with London and getting increasingly frustrated by orders not to try to engage the enemy.

         At 10.30 a.m. on 3 April, Captain César Trombetta, on board the Bahía Paraíso and leading the Argentine force in the area, radioed over the Channel 16 international frequency to the South Georgia garrison, saying, ‘Following our successful operation in the Malvinas Islands, the ex-Governor has surrendered the Islands and 6dependencies to Argentina. We suggest you adopt a similar course of action to prevent any loss of life. If so, all British troops and government personnel will be repatriated to the UK unharmed.’

         Mills asked for ‘some time to clarify the situation’ – i.e. to consider his response and to radio the Endurance for guidance. He had hoped for several hours’ grace but was told he had only ‘five minutes’ to consider his response. In his book, Captain Barker wrote of this moment: ‘3 April was the day when the feeling of impotence hit hardest. I hated what I had to do only slightly less than I despised those who had brought about this situation.’

         Meanwhile Mills, after his five minutes of thought, radioed Bahía Paraíso to say, ‘I am the British Commander of the military troops stationed on South Georgia. Do not make any attempt to land until we have clarified the situation with our superiors. Any attempt to land will be met with force.’

         Later that morning, Barker lost radio contact with South Georgia, writing long afterwards:

         
            We knew that the battle had begun … We were most fearful for Keith and our Marines. The situation they faced was untenable. Their lives depended on an honourable adversary and the common sense to know when to admit defeat. When you join the armed services you accept the risks. But you do not expect to fight, and perhaps die, on some Godforsaken windswept mountainside just about as far from home as you can get. At this point South Georgia seemed unimportant, an irrelevance. What could Argentina do with it anyway?

         

         The Marines were ‘dug in’ in a position about 100 metres from the shore in a sheltered bay, with a Union flag fluttering nearby. They had placed mines and improvised explosive devices in front of the position where they anticipated the enemy would land. Mills had 7intended to give them a ‘bloody nose’ and then withdraw into the mountains, where his men had some basic supplies.

         The first the Marines saw of the invading force was the corvette Guerrico rounding a point and coming into a cove close to the BAS base. She was supported by an Alouette helicopter hovering above. Initially, Mills marched down to the jetty at King Edward Point with the intention of talking to the Argentine landing party. Instead, the helicopter landed and dropped some eight enemy Marines close by, one of whom raised his rifle in Mills’s direction. Mills decided there would be no opportunity to talk, and instead he retreated.

         Next, a Puma helicopter from Bahía Paraíso attempted to land on the foreshore. Mills ordered his men to commence firing and more than 500 rounds of small-arms fire hit the helicopter from a range of under 100 metres. Trailing smoke, the aircraft pulled away and limped some 1,200 metres to the other side of the bay, where it crash-landed. Next on the scene was another helicopter, again an Alouette, and this aircraft was also hit by British fire and crashed.

         Guerrico began blasting away with 40mm guns from the aft-end and a 100mm gun from the bow. The British expected her to stop out of their range and then fire at them from a safe distance, but instead Guerrico carried on until she was only 500 metres from the British force. In his official report of the incident, a copy of which I have obtained, Mills later wrote:

         
            I ordered my men to open fire. The corvette was committed to entering the bay and could not turn around. The first 84mm round fired at the ship landed approximately 10 metres short of its target. The round did not detonate on impact with the water, but did detonate on impact with the ship below the water line. The ship was also hit by a 66mm round behind the front 100mm turret. The ship was also engaged by heavy machine gun and rifle fire.

         

         8Mills continued:

         
            The ship then moved right into the bay, about turned, and headed out to sea again at full speed. We engaged the corvette for a second time scoring anti-tank rocket hits on the Exocet and to the main upper deck superstructure. Again she was engaged by heavy machine gun and rifle fire. I was later informed by an Argentine marine officer that we had scored a total of 1,275 hits on the corvette, and had we hit her again below the water line she would surely have sunk.

            The corvette then made its way to a position about 3,000 metres away and started to shell our position with her 100mm main armament. What I did not know at the time was that the elevation control on the gun had been destroyed and the ship had to manoeuvre its own position to enable the shells to land accurately on our position. This shelling continued for a period of about twenty minutes. During this time we were continually engaged by heavy and accurate fire from the other Argentine positions.

            When the shelling stopped there seemed to be a temporary ceasefire. It was then I realised that a withdrawal for us would be almost impossible as the Argentine troops that had landed earlier on the far side of the bay had moved round to cut off our withdrawal. We had by this stage already sustained one casualty, and I realised that we would sustain many more had we waited until the hours of darkness before attempting a withdrawal. A withdrawal in daylight conditions would have been impossible. Having already achieved our aim of forcing the Argentines to use military force I realised we could achieve no more, and it was at this stage I decided to surrender to the Argentine forces. We were also in the fortunate position at this stage of having pinned a group of Argentine marines down close to our position.

            As we had not planned to surrender, we had no white flag, and 9therefore had to improvise using a green anorak with white lining. On initially waving this article of clothing [at the top of a rifle] the Argentines engaged it with heavy fire. I then waved it again and this time it was not engaged. I realised that I would have to move forward from my position to negotiate with the Argentines as it was unlikely they were going to come to me. I slowly stood up [from the safety of the trench], and remarkably I was not shot. I then moved forward to the Argentine position in the base and was met by an Argentine marine officer. I informed him that his position was desperate as was ours, and unless we ceased firing then he and his men in the position in the base would surely die. We had achieved our aim and if we were to be guaranteed good treatment we would lay down our arms sparing the lives of many of his men who would surely have died had he taken our position by force. The Argentine officer agreed saying that it was a very sensible decision and that he would guarantee good treatment for my men.

         

         After more than two hours of intense fighting, the battle for South Georgia was over. It is believed that the twenty-two Royal Marines faced an overall invasion force of some 300 enemy servicemen. The sole British casualty was a corporal shot twice in one arm. The number of enemy casualties is not known, but it is likely there was a total of around twenty dead and wounded.

         Mills and his men assembled on the beach. Along with the rounded-up thirteen scientists, the British party gathered on Bahía Paraíso. In an interview at his Devon home, Mills told me that the Argentines had initially been ‘twitchy’ immediately after the British had surrendered. They could not believe they were facing a force of just twenty-two men and feared they were about to be ambushed.

         
            After a while, they accepted it was just twenty-two of us. Even 10when we were unarmed, they were still very wary of us, while our guys were a bit worried that we still might all get shot in cold blood. It was all a bit tense. I had to tell the Argentines that we had ‘wired up’ the jetty and other areas. I didn’t want them blowing themselves up now that we were all prisoners of war.

         

         As for Captain Barker on Endurance, he arrived on the scene hours later, but by then he could not provide support, later writing, ‘It was to our huge regret that all this happened as we were heading east round the southern tip of South Georgia. I had every intention of bringing helicopter support to our Marines by mid-afternoon. We were too late.’

         Back home in Britain, the media seized upon Mills’s bravery: it was the first bit of ‘good news’ to come from the South Atlantic. Mills’s last stand was likened to the famous defence of Rorke’s Drift in 1879 during the Anglo-Zulu War, when a small group of British soldiers held out against a much larger force of marauding Zulus. Newspaper headlines on 5 April 1982 were full of his bravery from two days earlier. The front page of the Daily Star carried the huge headline ‘Keith Mills, hero’, alongside a smaller headline that read: ‘Marine who showed Whitehall that the British fighting spirit is still alive’.

         After their negotiated surrender, Mills and his men plus the scientists embarked on a voyage to Puerto Belgrano, Argentina, which took a total of eleven days, part of it spent circling the Argentine coast while the enemy decided what to do with its prisoners. Once they landed, the Marines were kept at the port for four more days and were questioned about the conduct of the Argentine forces in South Georgia by some sort of board of inquiry.

         Mills became emotional with sheer pride when he told me how a senior Argentine officer, General Carlos Büsser, had insisted on meeting all twenty-two Royal Marines in person. The General told 11Mills: ‘I have come here today because I have been in Buenos Aires listening to the stories of the defence by British Marines of South Georgia. I am a Marine and I decided that I had to come and meet these men.’ Mills continues,

         
            With that, the General went along the line and saluted each of my men, shook their hands and said, ‘If Argentine marines were the same as British marines, we would conquer the world. If there is anything you want, let me know and you will have it.’ We made a short list that ended ‘Twenty-two one-way tickets to London and twenty-two women.’ Büsser said: ‘You can have everything on the list except the women and the one-way tickets home you will have to wait for.’ Yet the next day we flew out of Argentina.

         

         On 17 April, the British Marines were flown to Montevideo, where they were looked after by the British Consulate. On the morning of 19 April, they were flown back to England in an RAF VC10, landing at RAF Brize Norton, Oxfordshire, on the morning of 20 April. Mills was soon reunited with his then girlfriend, Liz Stananought, later to become his wife.

         Mills was awarded the DSC on 4 June 1982, and his citation read:

         
            Lieutenant Mills was the Commanding Officer of a 22-man Royal Marines contingent despatched to South Georgia on 31st March 1982 to monitor the activities of a group of Argentines illegally landed on the island and to protect a British Antarctic Survey Team based there. On 3rd April 1982 a major Argentine assault began and, following his unsuccessful attempts to forestall the attack by negotiation, Lieutenant Mills conducted a valiant defence in the face of overwhelming odds. In spite of the fact that his unit was impossibly outnumbered, extensive damage was inflicted on the 12Argentine corvette Guerrico, one helicopter was shot down and another damaged. Only when the detachment was completely surrounded, and it was obvious that further resistance would serve no purpose, did he order a ceasefire, placing himself at great personal risk to convey this fact to the invading forces. Lieutenant Mills’ resolute leadership during this action reflected the finest traditions of the Corps.

         

         On the same day, Sergeant Peter Leach was awarded the Distinguished Service Medal (DSM) for his gallantry during the same action.

         In a typed letter dated 7 June 1982, Admiral Sir Desmond Cassidi, the Second Sea Lord and Chief of Naval Personnel, wrote to Mills saying, ‘Many congratulations on your award of the DSC for the part you played in the defence of South Georgia. As the citation for your award states, your resolute leadership during this action reflected the finest traditions of the Corps. Well done.’

         Captain Barker later wrote a hand-written and ‘informal’ letter to Mills’s father, Alan, dated 1 August 1982, in which he congratulated him on his son’s bravery:

         
            This was a magnificent action and he richly deserves his D.S.C. There has been a great deal of bravery during this short, sharp war, but Keith set the pace, set the example and gave a very special sense of pride back to the country as a whole. We are all proud of him…

         

         I have also obtained a copy of an internal report that summarises Mills’s work between June 1981 to September 1982, which included the period of the Falklands War. It read:

         
            There is usually fun, quick wit and coarse humour when Keith Mills is about. He is irrepressible, enthusiastic to a degree about 13most things, killing Argentines in particular, and a very good man to have in a ‘tight corner’. He is very fit and has boundless energy and a good brain once he has it pointed in the right direction.

            Although a carefree, somewhat wild, young officer, he proved to be calm and extremely courageous during the First Battle of Grytviken, his DSC was very well deserved indeed and his maturity when the ‘chips were down’ was outstanding.

            I have thoroughly enjoyed having him on board, he has led his men very well, he has accepted many new habits with grace and should do well in future appointments.

         

         After the war ended, a mountain on South Georgia was named ‘Mills Peak’ in the young officer’s honour. ‘A lot of people are fortunate enough to be awarded gallantry medals, but to have a landmark named after you is quite something. I was very touched,’ Mills told me.

         After the Falklands War, Mills’s roles included a second UN tour of Cyprus with 40 Commando, another operational tour of Northern Ireland and training duties. He also represented the Corps, the Royal Navy and the Combined Services at alpine skiing. He was promoted to Captain in 1989, was Adjutant at the Royal Marines Depot in Deal, Kent, at the time when the IRA bombed the barracks, killing eleven Marines from the Royal Marines School of Music and leaving another twenty-one wounded. From 1992 to 1995, he was involved in an officer exchange role with the Royal Netherlands Marine Corps, and in 1995, he was appointed as a liaison officer in Bosnia and Croatia at the height of the Balkan War. Mills left the Marines in the rank of Captain on 4 July 1996. By that point, he and his wife, who were married in 1986, had two children.

         A final internal assessment of Mills’s work, written in September 1995 just months before he left the Royal Marines, stated, ‘Mills is a 14muscular, fit and dynamic officer brimming over with enthusiasm and energy. Although due to leave the Service shortly on voluntary redundancy, he has not let this intrude on his performance … His decision to leave the Corps is a sad one, if fully understandable.’

         In 2007, Mills and his wife were invited back by the Commissioner of South Georgia to unveil a plaque as part of the commemorations of the war a quarter of a century on. Before leaving for their adventure, he said, ‘I haven’t been back in twenty-five years. I’m quite excited. I’ve heard it’s changed a bit.’ During his visit, Mills flew over the peak named after him in a helicopter, but it was considered too unsafe to land and walk on it.

         After leaving the Armed Forces, Mills started a business developing and running care homes for the elderly in east Devon, where he continues to live. He remains as managing director of Doveleigh Care Ltd, which has three award-winning care homes; he has held the position for twenty-five years.
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            CHAPTER 2

            THE WAR AT SEA

         

         On 5 April 1982, just three days after Argentina invaded the Falkland Islands, the British Armed Forces were ordered to sail to the South Atlantic fully 8,000 miles away. On 7 April, the UK announced, rather ambitiously, its intention to impose a 200-mile exclusion zone around the Falkland Islands. It did so knowing that it would be weeks before it could even try to enforce what became known as the ‘TEZ’ (Total Exclusion Zone), and even then, their task might prove impossible.

         In the days just before the invasion, and with the Argentine fleet en route to the Falklands, Margaret Thatcher had discussed the prospect of an Argentine attack with her defence chiefs, including Admiral Sir Henry Leach, the First Sea Lord. The Prime Minister had asked him bluntly: ‘First Sea Lord, if the invasion happens, precisely what can we do?’ Leach’s response was calm and considered: ‘I can put together a Task Force of destroyers, frigates, landing craft, support vessels. It will be led by the aircraft carriers HMS Hermes and HMS Invincible. It can be ready to leave in forty-eight hours.’

         This is exactly what happened after the invasion. The Task Force eventually comprised 127 ships: forty-three naval vessels, twenty-two Royal Fleet Auxiliary (RFA) ships and sixty-two merchant ships. Those ships requisitioned for war duties included the giant cruiser SS Canberra, which set sail from Southampton on 9 April with 3 Commando Brigade on board, and the ocean liner Queen Elizabeth 2, which left from Southampton on 12 May carrying the 5th Infantry Brigade. British military actions in the war were given the codename ‘Operation 16Corporate’ and the Commander of the Task Force was Admiral Sir John Fieldhouse.

         When the first ships in the Task Force set sail, there was still a reasonable chance that war could be avoided. However, it soon became clear that the Royal Navy and the men on its ships were sailing to war and that the challenges they faced would be formidable. With no advantage over the enemy on land or in the air, it also became clear that the Royal Navy, the senior service in the Armed Forces, would have to play a key role in the fighting. Indeed, how the navy fared was likely to decide whether the war was won or lost. At the time, the US Navy was said to have assessed the chances of the Task Force recapturing the islands as ‘a military impossibility’.

         Depending on where it set off from and the size of the ship, the journey to the Falkland Islands was expected to take around three weeks. Most ships stopped off at Ascension Island – a 34-square-mile mound of volcanic rock in the South Atlantic – on the way, to pick up supplies and to prepare for what lay ahead. Meanwhile, a small force had been sent to recapture South Georgia, with the British destroyer HMS Antrim arriving off the island on 21 April. Military actions to recapture South Georgia were codenamed ‘Operation Paraquet’ (sometimes also spelt ‘Operation Paraquat’). This task was achieved on 25 April 1982, with Mrs Thatcher famously telling the nation to ‘rejoice’ at the news.

         On 2 May, the day after two Vulcan bombers had attacked Stanley airfield, the first major loss of the war took place when, in what were to become highly controversial circumstances, the Argentine cruiser General Belgrano was sunk by a torpedo fired from a British submarine. The sinking led to 323 Argentines being killed, while 700 sailors survived. News of the sinking caused shock among the Task Force and the British public, and the incident became a cause célèbre for antiwar campaigners. Opponents of the sinking claimed that the Belgrano was outside the TEZ and sailing away from the conflict. British defence insisted, however, that the Task Force had the right to defend itself against any hostile vessel. 17

         Once the Belgrano had been sunk, and with British ships near the Falklands particularly vulnerable to attack, it was almost inevitable that Argentina would strike back fast and hard. On 4 May, HMS Sheffield was hit by an Exocet missile, which started a fire in the control room. The crew was forced to abandon ship and twenty men died. The Sheffield was the first British warship to be sunk in the conflict.

         On 14–15 May, the SAS attacked Pebble Island, which could have given an early warning of the arrival of the British fleet. Three days later, the Argentine junta rejected British peace proposals, and two days after that, on 20 May, United Nations peace talks also failed, thereby ending any real hope of a diplomatic outcome to the crisis.

         With a land battle now inevitable, 3,000 troops and a mass of equipment were landed at San Carlos Water, East Falkland, on 21 May, with a view to establishing a beachhead for attacks on Goose Green and Port Stanley. As the Argentine Air Force tried to prevent the landings, HMS Ardent was sunk with the loss of twenty-two crew. HMS Argonaut and HMS Antrim were also hit by bombs that failed to explode but nevertheless killed two men. In turn, thirteen Argentine aircraft were reportedly shot down.

         Two days later, on 23 May, HMS Antelope was hit and later sunk after one of the bombs that had lodged in the ship exploded during bomb-disposal work. In a week of heavy British casualties at sea, HMS Coventry was bombed on 25 May, with the loss of twenty men, and on the same day the container ship Atlantic Conveyor was hit, with twelve men being killed.

         In June, as the land war escalated, there were further major casualties at sea. On 8 June, as British troops were ferried from San Carlos to Bluff Cove and Fitzroy, ready for the southern offensive on Stanley, the Argentines again mounted a deadly attack. A delay in disembarking troops meant that around fifty men, most of them from the Welsh Guards, were killed by Argentine aircraft which attacked the landing ships Sir Galahad and Sir Tristram. Four days later, as the land war 18reached its climax, the British destroyer HMS Glamorgan was hit by a shore-launched Exocet missile, killing a further thirteen men; another member of her crew later died of his wounds.

         Falklands War Heroes does not seek to provide a definitive account of the war at sea. That role has already been fulfilled by Admiral Sir Sandy Woodward’s One Hundred Days: The Memoirs of the Falklands Battle Group Commander and many other excellent books. However, this book does try to provide an insight into the bravery of some of those who served at sea, particularly their gallantry throughout the losses of some of the Royal Navy’s finest ships and most courageous men. No less brave were many soldiers from the British Army who died or displayed valour while the ship in which they were being transported came under attack.

         The contribution of the Royal Navy in recapturing the Falklands was immeasurable. Woodward’s last signal to the Task Force on 4 July 1982 from HMS Hermes, then off Port Stanley, said: ‘As I haul my South Atlantic flag down, I reflect sadly on the brave lives lost, and the good ships gone, in the short time of our trial. I thank wholeheartedly each and every one of you for your gallant support, tough determination and fierce perseverance under bloody conditions. Let us all be grateful that Argentina does not breed bulldogs and, as we return severally to enjoy the blessings of our land, resolve that those left behind for ever shall not be forgotten.’

         
            GRAHAM JOHN ROBERT LIBBY

            Service: Royal Navy

            Final Rank: Petty Officer

            FALKLANDS WAR DECORATION / DISTINCTION:

            DISTINGUISHED SERVICE MEDAL (DSM)

            DATE OF BRAVERY: 25 MAY 1982

            GAZETTED: 8 OCTOBER 1982

         

         19HM submarine Conqueror is best known for sinking the Argentine cruiser General Belgrano in an incident that is still controversial nearly forty years on. Yet for crew member Petty Officer Graham Libby, his greatest test came not at the time of the sinking but less than a month later, when he showed outstanding courage as a diver to solve a major problem faced by his submarine.

         Graham John Robert Libby was born on 2 December 1958 in Portsmouth, Hampshire. The son of a Royal Navy diver, he was brought up and educated in the city before leaving school at sixteen. As a boy, he had initially wanted to join the fire brigade, but he eventually enlisted in the Royal Navy instead in 1975, aged sixteen. Two years later, he transferred to the Submarine Service, and like his father before him, he became a diver.

         By the spring of 1982, when war broke out, Libby had been serving in the Conqueror, arguably the most famous British submarine ever launched, for three years. Some 285ft long with a beam of 32ft, the Conqueror was ordered on 9 August 1966, just ten days after England defeated West Germany 4–2 in extra time to win the World Cup. The Conqueror was built at Cammell Laird’s Birkenhead shipyard and was launched on 28 August 1969, then finally commissioned on 9 November 1971. The Conqueror was a Churchill-class nuclear-powered submarine with a complement of more than 100 officers and crew.

         By late March 1982, after completing a three-month overseas deployment, the Conqueror was back at her base of Faslane, situated on the eastern side of Gare Loch, Scotland, home to the 3rd Submarine Squadron. With the submarine in need of some repair work, her crew was given leave. However, just two days before the invasion of the Falkland Islands and with diplomatic alarm bells ringing loud and clear, the men were ordered to return to the boat – and to prepare for war. Libby was one of those on leave at his home in Portsmouth on 1 April 1982. He told Mike Rossiter, the author of the book Sink the Belgrano: 20

         
            I had only been there a few days when there was a knock on the door and there was this policeman stood there saying, ‘You’ve been recalled. Make your way to the boat.’ It was the morning of April the first he knocked on the door, and I thought, this is a wind-up, April fool, so I phoned the boat up in Faslane, and they said, ‘Yeah, it’s true – you’re recalled.’ When I got there it was just a hive of activity. There were stores on the jetty, there was a complete new weapons load, everybody was running around, and I thought this is not a wind-up, this is not an exercise, something is going on here.

         

         The crew received instructions to ‘store for war’, which meant taking twice the amount of provisions on board that were needed for a routine patrol. To start with, all the crew were baffled as to their destination, but it soon emerged that there was trouble brewing in the Falkland Islands. Soon, under the command of the newly appointed Commander Christopher Wreford-Brown, the Conqueror was sailing for the South Atlantic – but with many of the crew initially convinced that the dispute would be settled by diplomacy, not military conflict.

         Libby was the submarine’s ‘scratcher’, the crewman responsible for the maintenance of the outer casing. Part of his role was to ensure that the capstans, winches and cables were all properly secured and that they made no noise when the boat was under way: in war, such noises could give away the submarine’s position, resulting in it being torpedoed or bombed and all lives on board being lost. Libby was also the most senior diver on board the Conqueror.

         He was enthusiastic about the secret presence of fourteen Special Boat Service (SBS) men on board the submarine. The SBS – men drawn from the Royal Marines – were not as famous as their SAS cousins, but they were still respected as an elite and highly trained force. However, early on in the Conqueror’s journey to the South 21Atlantic, the Special Forces men also gave him cause for concern. In his interview with Mike Rossiter, Libby takes up the story some time after the submarine left Faslane on 4 April:

         
            We were heading down, making good speed, when suddenly we heard this massive thumping noise. It sounded like part of the boat was rattling and we thought, ‘What the hell is that?’ You don’t like it because it means you haven’t done your job properly, or we have to surface and fix something. And we have guys on the boat that can go round with a little portable device to isolate where the sound is coming from. Because we have to fix it, you can’t make those sort of noises when you are operational, you have to be quiet. And we listened and we couldn’t pin down what it was. Eventually the noise monitors came back. The banging was the SBS guys doing their exercises in the fore part [of the submarine] where the torpedoes were stored. They were banging against the metal grating and it was being transmitted out to the ocean. It was a hell of a racket. So we had to put rubber mats down whenever they wanted to work out. But to have an SBS unit on board was unusual, and you thought, ‘What the hell’s going on?’ We knew we were going south but we didn’t know why these chaps were on board.

         

         Libby also said that once on board, the crew tended to concentrate on the job in hand: ‘You didn’t forget your family; it’s very strange, you have your family but they’re over there in England in a box, and you very quickly come down to the only thing that matters is the submarine and the job it’s doing and your mates.’

         Libby said the crew picked up snippets of information on their journey south – they crossed the equator after just over a week at sea, on 12 April – but they never got the complete picture. ‘We’d 22get told that Mrs Thatcher’s doing this and this has happened, and rules of engagement are changing. Although we were never told specifics, you know. You were kept in the picture but you were kept in the little tiny picture in the corner of a big picture.’

         After nearly three weeks at sea, Conqueror was approaching South Georgia, more than 900 miles south-east of the Falklands. By this point, the British government had decided to retake South Georgia prior to mounting an attack on the Falkland Islands. However, when the assault on South Georgia was planned, no role was given to the SBS men travelling in the submarine. Conqueror resurfaced so the men could be picked up by helicopter and transferred to HMS Antrim, the navy’s county-class destroyer. Just at the worst possible moment, one of the SBS men and Petty Officer Libby were hit by a huge wave that swept them into the bitterly cold sea.

         In his book Secrets of the Conqueror: The Untold Story of Britain’s Most Famous Submarine, Stuart Prebble tells the story:

         
            The ship’s helicopter quickly moved into place and lowered its single rescue hoist above their heads. Libby was wearing only his waterproofs and immediately felt the warmth from his body draining away into the frozen sea. The SBS man had on his dry suit, but neither was keen to remain in the water for long. There was a brief exchange of glances between the two men: who would avail himself of the rescue hoist and who would remain in the ice-cold mountainous waves? The question answered itself; both men managed to secure themselves into the harness and were brought back on board at the same time. Libby was put into a bath to try to get his circulation going again, and spent six hours recovering on board HMS Antrim. When rescuers removed the trousers of the SBS man they were amazed to see that his legs were pink and the blood was circulating normally. These men had been trained in the Arctic, 23and a dip in the South Atlantic seemed to be a matter of very little concern. Eventually the men from the SBS were air-lifted successfully by helicopter to the destroyer.

         

         Libby later told author Mike Rossiter about the incident:

         
            The next thing I know, this wave has come from nowhere, the submarine dipped down, came back up and the next wave swept me, the cargo net and the SBS trooper into the sea. I had the weight of the cargo net on me and as it pulled me down the life-line broke. Which was lucky otherwise I would have drowned. The submarine just kept going – it’s such a big beast it can’t stop.

         

         As the helicopter hovering above dropped just one line for both men in the water, Libby felt unbelievably cold.

         
            We sort of look at each other, and he’s quite happy sat there in his dry suit, and I’m going blue, and he’s sort of looking at me to say, ‘I’m going first,’ and I’m thinking, ‘I’m going first.’ In the end we both went in the same harness, I was very close to collapse because of the cold.

         

         Libby was officially classed as a ‘survivor’ after the incident, which meant he was given new kit – plimsolls and clothes – before being returned to his submarine, which had remained on the surface as engineers tried to repair some communications problems.

         Once in the war zone, the Conqueror was on the lookout for potential targets, notably the Argentine aircraft carrier Veinticinco de Mayo. The dream scenario for the crew of the Conqueror was that the aircraft carrier could be sunk before its aircraft successfully attacked British ships in the area. HMS Splendid, Conqueror’s sister 24boat, did in fact locate the aircraft carrier outside the TEZ, only to lose it again. Next, Conqueror was ordered to head south-west of the Falklands to look for the Argentine cruiser General Belgrano, which had been bought from the US in 1951 after being active – under a different name, of course – during the Second World War. Conqueror was tasked with finding the Belgrano and trailing her, as the ‘rules of engagement’ suggested an attack was not permissible.

         On 23 April, the British government made a statement that said Argentine ships might be a target ‘if they could amount to a threat to interfere with the mission of British Forces in the South Atlantic’. This went further than the government’s earlier statement, which had restricted targets to inside the 200-mile TEZ.

         British intelligence passed on information deemed to be of ‘excellent’ quality to Commander Wreford-Brown that a four-ship Argentine convoy, made up of the Belgrano, two destroyers and an oiler, was in his vicinity. Petty Officer Libby was supervising the duty team listening for incoming sonar signals when he detected something at 16.45 GMT – 1.45 p.m. local time – on 30 April. ‘The first contact was a heavy – it was a heavy ship. A heavy oiler makes a lot more noise than a warship does,’ he told author Mike Rossiter. Despite being over 50 miles away, he could tell from the steady beat of the propellers and the clatter of the diesel engines that this was a slow-moving ship – if it was from the small convoy, it was likely to be the oiler that was on the scene for refuelling purposes. Libby said,

         
            We had to investigate every single contact that we came across. With experience, you can listen to a vessel and know immediately that it was not what we were looking for. We had various fishing vessels as contacts, but as soon as we heard the tanker, we knew this was of interest. I reported it to the control room, the control room told the Captain, and we investigated it further.

         

         25The Captain decided to go closer, initially 20 miles nearer, strongly suspecting that his target – the Belgrano – would eventually come within firing range. The next morning was 1 May and, although the Captains of both the Conqueror and the Belgrano were initially unaware of it, the fight for the Falklands had started in earnest.

         At 9.49 a.m. on 1 May, the Captain of the Conqueror ordered the submarine to be raised to periscope depth, and he was able to see the Belgrano minutes later. In fact, he could see her being refuelled by the oil tanker. Throughout the afternoon, the Argentine cruiser was trailed by the British submarine, with Libby and the rest of the sonar team listening to the Belgrano’s engine and propeller: both were heard loud and clear beneath the waves. The Belgrano was, in turn, moving towards, not away from, the TEZ. The atmosphere on board was tense as the Argentine sailors realised their first taste of military action was probably imminent. Little did they know that the Conqueror was only 5 miles away, some 200ft below the surface. That evening Captain Hector Bonzo made an announcement to his crew on the Belgrano that he had been instructed to attack the British Task Force, then some 200 miles away.

         The final order to ‘Sink the Belgrano’ came on 2 May and was issued by the British War Cabinet. They held a twenty-minute meeting beginning at 1 p.m. with Lord Lewin, the Chief of the Defence Staff, at which he asked permission for Rear Admiral Sandy Woodward to proceed with his (Woodward’s) desire to sink the enemy ship even though she was outside the TEZ. Communication problems to the submarine further delayed things, but Wreford-Brown and his crew were soon in a position to carry out their orders.

         Once again, Stuart Prebble, who had unique access to crew from the submarine, sets the scene and tells the story: 26

         
            Later that morning [morning because of the time difference], in the South Atlantic, the Captain announced to the crew that they had orders to sink the Belgrano and that after lunch they would be going to action stations. This meant that every man on board would be at his post and ready to do whatever was necessary. This was something they had done countless times in exercise, but this was the first time a British submarine had been on a real combat footing since 1945, and the gravity of the situation was not lost on those in the boat.

            Lunch on that day consisted of roast pork with all the trimmings, followed by apple crumble and custard. Grant Louch [Weapons Engineering Rating] had just come off his morning duty and tried to grab two hours’ sleep before he would be called to action stations. Needless to say, he did not sleep. ‘I remember it being very calm,’ he recalls. ‘Everyone was doing everything exactly by the book, just as we had been trained to do.’

         

         Libby told Mike Rossiter that the situation had remained calm:

         
            It’s a funny feeling because you weren’t nervous because this is all you’d ever trained to do. As time went on, you were constantly passing to the Captain the bearings and updating the Captain on its position – it was constant updates and the chatter back and forth was tremendous. And even then we were still going, ‘It’s never going to happen.’ Then I thought, ‘Fuck me – we are going to fire.’ And people looked at each other and went, ‘Fucking hell.’ I’ll never forget it. And then the boat vibrated, the first one went, moving your cursor around you can hear the fish [torpedo] running away, there’s two, there’s three, all three are running. And you can hear the Captain asking, ‘How long to run?’ So the periscope goes up at the last minute and as the ’scope goes up and he puts his eyes to it, bang.

         

         27Three Mark 8 torpedoes fired at three-second intervals had been aimed at the Belgrano and two had hit their target. It was just after 4 p.m. local time on 2 May that the Belgrano was hit, when she was situated at 55° 24' south latitude and 61° 32' west longitude. After initially listing to port, the ship began to sink. At 4.24, just twenty minutes after the attack, Captain Bonzo instructed his crew to abandon ship, and once the crew had prepared the inflatable life rafts the evacuation got under way. A total of 323 men lost their lives, many killed in the two initial explosions. At the time of the attack, there were more than 1,000 men on board. It was the first operational sinking attributable to a nuclear-powered submarine.

         There was a feeling of euphoria on board the Conqueror, but it did not last long. Libby told Mike Rossiter: ‘Everybody was on a high because of what we’d done, but it’s momentary. We’ve got to get our heads back on. The threat’s now what else is around us, update the skipper on everything so he can plot a way out safely without getting caught.’ Having ensured that the attack was successful, Commander Wreford-Brown took the Conqueror deep and fast for a sprint away from the immediate area. In fact, the submarine remained at 500ft and changed course to move eastwards. After a short while, she moved south-west, putting 50 miles between the submarine and its stricken target.

         In the two days after the attack, the Conqueror patrolled the area close by. However, at 12.56 p.m. on 7 May, the company learnt how it felt to be on the wrong end of a surprise attack by the enemy – in this case a low-flying aircraft. With the submarine at periscope depth, the Conqueror came under attack from an airborne Mark 46 torpedo which used sonar to home in on its target. The company knew that it could take fully six minutes from the moment of launch to the potential moment of impact. This meant they spent six long minutes wondering if they were about to be hit and 28sunk. The sudden realisation that the torpedo might have locked on to the nuclear submarine caused Wreford-Brown to undertake a series of dangerous, high-speed manoeuvres. The Captain gave the order for ‘full ahead’. This necessitated the engineers to operate the ‘battle short switch’, which overrides all nuclear-reactor safety measures designed to regulate pressure and temperature within the reactor. Turning these off could lead to a reactor meltdown. ‘On this occasion, however, the manoeuvre appeared to be entirely justified, because the instruments soon showed that the torpedo was no longer in pursuit,’ Prebble wrote.

         
            Now, though, it seemed that Conqueror was being hunted in deadly earnest. The order was given to go to silent routine, which meant that those not on operational duty were encouraged to lie in their bunks rather than walk around, and all non-essential machinery was switched off … Wreford-Brown now threw the boat around from deep to shallow, to very deep, to shallow, at every angle imaginable. [Lieutenant] Sethia had a vivid mental image of the submarine zig-zagging through the water, with some lethal weapon zig-zagging behind in tireless pursuit. Every passing second could bring with it instant annihilation for the submarine and every man on board … After what seemed like hours but was probably only minutes, the submarine appeared to be in the clear; it felt like a very narrow escape.

         

         After surviving that dramatic moment, the Conqueror experienced a series of communication problems and as part of an effort to repair the situation, an aerial wire was released into the water. However, this appeared to have become entangled around the propeller and so rather than solving the initial problem, the wayward aerial had created another more serious one. 29

         The position of the aerial wire, or whatever was causing the problem, meant the submarine had to operate at a reduced speed, and there was a noise coming from the propeller as it rotated. By 25 May, and with the submarine patrolling north of the Falkland Islands, there was only one thing for it: the submarine would have to surface – dangerous in itself with enemy aircraft in the area – and a diver, backed up by other crew, would be released into the water. His task was to investigate the problem and try to dislodge the wire.

         The sea, however, was both bitterly cold and rough – this was the South Atlantic after all. There was a real danger that the diver might be washed away. Even worse, if an enemy aircraft was sighted, the submarine would have to dive at once, with the diver unable to get back into the submarine in time. The abandoned diver would have no chance of survival – either freezing to death or drowning, as it would be hours before it was safe for the submarine to re-emerge.

         The submarine remained on high alert against attacks from the air, even though the Argentines had withdrawn what remained of their surface fleet, including the aircraft carrier, back to home waters. Petty Officer Libby volunteered for the task of trying to solve the submarine’s problem, later recalling,

         
            I was a single man, I was quite happy to go out there because I was all pumped up. We had just sunk a blooming great warship – this could be the icing on the cake, you know? It’s just something exciting that I might never ever get a chance to do.

         

         In his book Secrets of the Conqueror, Stuart Prebble takes up the story:

         
            Libby and [First Lieutenant] Tim McClement climbed out onto 30the submarine casing, with five other divers for support and backup. All of the men were attached to the boat by life-lines, but straight away a wave swept Libby and [Lieutenant] John Coulthard into the water. Libby immediately disappeared from sight and, to his horror, McClement caught a glimpse of Coulthard lying apparently face-down in the ocean. For a moment it seemed that his life-line was not attached.

            ‘How are things going up there?’ From down in the control room, Wreford-Brown chose that precise moment to ask his first lieutenant for a progress report. For what he says was the only time, McClement chose to mislead his Captain.

            ‘According to plan, sir,’ he replied.

            The life-line to Coulthard had not broken after all and he was pulled back on board, and Libby also now reappeared at the stern of the boat. Clanking around his body as he was buffeted by the waves was a range of tools and hacksaws which he thought he might need for the task. He edged his way around the submarine to the stern and found that the aerial wire was indeed wrapped tightly around the shaft and blades. Worse still, even though the engines were of course stopped, the propellers were still turning gently, and in danger of severing the diver’s life-line back into the boat. Libby worked away with hacksaws, as speedily as he could, cutting off the wire in sections. The need for dexterity meant that he could not wear gloves, and gradually he felt his hands seize up and his entire body being penetrated by the cold. In his position back on the submarine, Tim McClement was constantly scanning the horizon for any sign of an enemy aircraft, knowing that there would be no way of getting Libby back in the boat if he had to give the order to dive. After twenty minutes, and just when his stamina was on the point of giving out, Libby declared the propeller clear and was hauled back inside the submarine.

         

         31Wreford-Brown noted in his log that Libby’s efforts went ‘far beyond the call of normal duty’. Later, the Captain said of the action:

         
            We surfaced at night and my best diver, Petty Officer Graham Libby, volunteered to dive in marginal weather to clear the wire from the propeller. He was diving in the dark in a reasonably rough sea. He spent twenty minutes struggling to get the wire off. Before he went out, I had to warn him that, if there was an air attack, I would have to dive and this would have given him very little time to get back on board. I think he was outstandingly brave. It is just the sort of thing I would expect from him.

         

         This incident took place three weeks and two days after the controversial sinking of the Belgrano on 2 May 1982.

         As the Conqueror continued her patrols, it was realised that – having left port on 4 April – she could be forced to remain at sea until the fall of Port Stanley. It was not known when this would be, but it could perhaps be as late as 14 July according to some calculations. This meant that food rationing would have to be introduced and the company was told:

         
            Please help to make things easier at this difficult time by NOT WASTING FOOD, EATING SENSIBLY and NOT GIVING THE CHEFS HASSLE. These restrictions have been introduced so that we can continue to enjoy a balanced diet for the remaining time on board rather than spending the last few weeks on bread and water.

         

         As the Conqueror continued to patrol close to the Argentine coast, the Royal Navy sustained further losses due to attacks from enemy 32aircraft. However, slowly Britain gained the upper hand. With their Armed Forces weakened and demoralised, Major General Mario Menéndez, the Argentine Commanding Officer in the Falklands, surrendered on 14 June. There were celebratory scenes on board the Conqueror, and twenty-four hours later she was ordered home to her Faslane base. Her role in ‘Operation Corporate’, the military action to regain the Falklands, was over.

         On 16 June, the submarine’s company received a signal from Rear Admiral (later Admiral) Sandy Woodward, saying,

         
            When the dust has settled on the Falkland Islands campaign it will be seen that the single most significant naval event after the arrival of the Task Force itself was your sinking of the cruiser Belgrano. That action brought the Argentine Navy up with a round turn and sent it scurrying to the twelve-mile limit [of its coastline], there to stay for the duration while we got on and fought the air war.

            That cool and determined attack was typical of your whole patrol. Well done. Bon voyage. Take a well earned break.

         

         As the Conqueror headed home, there was even a mail drop from a Nimrod, which resulted in thirty-four sacks, all full of letters from family, friends and strangers, falling into the sea and being eagerly recovered by the crew, the submarine having recently surfaced. There were newspapers too, including a copy of The Sun with its famous ‘Gotcha’ headline. All the papers not only championed the sinking but specifically named the Conqueror rather than simply attributing it to ‘a British submarine’.

         As Libby told Mike Rossiter: ‘As a submariner we’ve done lots and lots of these patrols, and you’re used to coming in very quietly, not allowed to say anything, about who you are, where you’ve been or what you’ve done. And now it was all over the papers.’

         Conqueror arrived at Faslane to a triumphant reception on 3 July, 33proudly flying the White Ensign at the stern and the Jolly Roger, embellished with her achievements, at the mast above the fin. After their return to a heroes’ welcome, the crew was sent home to recuperate after being at sea for more than fifteen weeks and were told that it would be at least two months before they would be called upon again. But it was not to be. Later that same month, intelligence reports were received that two Polish auxiliary general intelligence vessels were using towed-array sonars in the North Atlantic, and Conqueror was tasked with tracking them.

         Libby’s DSM was announced in The London Gazette on 8 October 1982 (although this Supplement to The London Gazette was in fact officially dated ‘Monday, 11th October 1982’). His citation stated:

         
            Whilst on patrol north of the Falklands [sic] Islands on 25th May 1982 a floating wire aerial trapped round HMS Conqueror’s propeller causing cavitation and noise to the detriment of her operational effectiveness.

            Acting Petty Officer (Sonar) (SM) Libby volunteered to carry out a dive to free the obstruction. With the submarine surfaced he knew full well that if she were detected by Argentine aircraft she would possibly have to dive without recovering him. He was also battered by heavy waves, threatening to part his lifeline and sweeping him away. Nonetheless he succeeded in clearing most of the obstruction, after twenty minutes in dark, freezing, and terrifying conditions, enabling HMS Conqueror to continue on her patrol unhindered.

            Acting Petty Officer (Sonar) (SM) Libby demonstrated a degree of cold, calculated courage and willingness to risk his life for the benefit of the ship far beyond any call of duty.

         

         Commander Wreford-Brown was decorated with the Distinguished Service Order (DSO), and two other members of the 34boat’s company were Mentioned in Despatches for their efforts to repair the radio mast.

         Libby received his decoration in an investiture at Buckingham Palace on 8 February 1983. He told me that he still remembers the occasion fondly:

         
            It was a brilliant day out. I received my medal from the Queen, and I remember she called me by my first name. She had been incredibly well briefed because she knew I was on a course and she asked me how it was going. She had definitely done her homework and from what I could see she had no notes or prompts from a projector or anything else. She was very impressive – quite remarkable.

         

         As time passed, the sinking of the Belgrano came under intense scrutiny. Part of this controversy resulted from the fact that John Nott, the Defence Secretary, made errors when he first reported the position and course of the Belgrano when she was torpedoed. In a further statement ten days after his initial report, Nott again made incorrect statements indicating that the enemy ship was just five or six hours from striking at the Task Force and was heading in its direction.

         In December 1982, six months after the war had been won, Labour MP Tam Dalyell accused the Prime Minister of deliberately ordering the sinking to prevent an agreement with Argentina and to create the conditions for all-out war. As he put it, ‘the Conqueror’s torpedoes would torpedo the peace negotiations’. Into the next year, 1983, and beyond, the conspiracy theory grew and grew. This book, which champions bravery in the Falklands, is not the place to go into the details of these conspiracy theories – or to seek to dismantle them one by one. Suffice to say that there were intelligence and military reasons for the government not wanting to go into great detail over the sinking at the time.

         After leaving the Royal Navy in 1984, Libby worked for 35Hampshire fire brigade at their headquarters in Eastleigh. During his time with the service, his expertise and wide-ranging activities meant that his name appeared in national and local newspapers several times. In July 2008, he was described as an ‘inventor’ when he assisted an electronics specialist in devising a remote-controlled model helicopter with on-board video and thermal cameras, which was helping fire crews to fight large blazes. Libby was quoted in the Daily Mirror saying of the model helicopter: ‘The only way to get an aerial shot before was with a hydraulic platform. The helicopter will make tackling fires much quicker.’

         As part of his role with the fire service, Libby began to specialise in rescue techniques used following natural disasters. He was a member of Hampshire Fire Service’s urban search and rescue team and the UK international search and rescue team, and he was deployed to Indonesia and New Zealand following large-scale earthquakes and to the Balkans following severe flooding.

         He finally retired from the fire service in 2016 after thirty-one years of service. Libby has three grown-up children and five grandchildren and lives in the Portsmouth area. Reflecting on the war and the sinking of the Belgrano nearly forty years on, he said, ‘I have no qualms about what we did. I think we did the right thing. We’d have lost quite a lot more lives on our side without it.’

         
            MALCOLM DAVID MESSENGER

            Service: Royal Navy

            Final rank: Able Seaman

            FALKLANDS WAR DECORATION / DISTINCTION: N/A

            DATE OF BRAVERY: N/A

            GAZETTED: N/A

         

         Malcolm Messenger was serving on HMS Sheffield when the Task Force received its first major reverse of the Falklands War. He 36was injured and buried under debris when the ship was hit by an Exocet missile on 4 May 1982 before managing to dig himself out. Eventually, he was rescued from the burning vessel as he and the rest of the crew were forced to abandon ship.

         Malcolm David Messenger was born in Swindon, Wiltshire, on 29 September 1960. The son of a builder, he was an only child. The young Messenger was educated first at Park South Infants and Junior School and later at Churchfields Secondary School, Swindon. Having joined the Sea Cadets while still at school, he joined the Royal Navy on 21 June 1977, aged sixteen.

         By early 1982, Messenger was serving in the rank of Able Seaman and was a radar operator on HMS Sheffield, a Type-42 guided-missile destroyer and the second ship to be named in honour of the Yorkshire city. She was ordered in 1968 and laid down in January 1970 before being built by Vickers Shipbuilding and Engineering in Barrow-in-Furness. Ironically, at roughly the same time an identical ship, Hércules, was being built for the Argentine Navy. During the Sheffield’s construction, an accidental explosion killed two dockyard workers and part of her hull was replaced with a section from Hércules. Sheffield, estimated to have cost more than £23 million to build, was launched by the Queen on 10 June 1971.

         On 26 January 1982, she was undergoing maintenance in the Kenyan city of Mombasa when Captain James ‘Sam’ Salt took over command. In fact, the list of her former Captains included Rear Admiral Sandy Woodward, the Battle Group Commander. In March, the Sheffield passed through the Suez Canal in order to take part in Exercise Spring Train, an annual training exercise in the Atlantic. However, after the invasion of the Falkland Islands on 2 April, she was diverted to join the Task Force. She eventually headed for the South Atlantic having already picked up ammunition and other supplies in Gibraltar, and she arrived at Ascension Island on 14 April. Along with other warships, she then sailed 37towards the Falkland Islands, entering the TEZ on 1 May. After the sinking of the General Belgrano on 2 May, Salt ordered the crew of the Sheffield to change course every ninety seconds in an attempt to thwart an enemy submarine attack. In fact, just three days later, the danger came from the air, not the sea.

         Sheffield’s primary role was to screen the two aircraft carriers, Hermes and Invincible. At dawn on 4 May, the Sheffield was about 20 miles ahead of Hermes on a cold, clear morning. At 7.50 a.m. local time, she was detected by an Argentine Neptune patrol aircraft, which radioed back her precise position and then verified it again at 8.14 a.m. and at 8.43 a.m. Two Argentine Navy Super Étendard aircraft, both armed with AM39 Exocets, took off from Río Grande at 9.45 a.m. and met with a Hercules to refuel in mid-air just fifteen minutes later. Shortly after 10.35 a.m., the patrol aircraft again gave the two attack aircraft the ship’s position and the Super Étendards prepared for a low-level attack to avoid the ship’s radar. The ship did not know it was under attack until four or five seconds before the strike, when someone shouted, ‘Take cover!’ over the intercom to the 281 officers and ratings on board. A missile from one of the two attack aircraft struck the ship on her starboard side amidships at the level of No. 2 deck. The Exocet then entered the forward engine room and travelled aft, passing over the gas turbines before striking the after bulkhead. There was a sheet of flame caused by the missile passing through steel plating, and then the main supply tank caught fire. Captain Salt said later: ‘I know it sounds incredible but in ten to fifteen seconds the whole working area of the ship was filled with black, acrid, pungent smoke, mainly from the cable-runs and paint. Then of course it caught on fuel and other combustibles.’

         Two frigates, Yarmouth and Arrow, came alongside to rescue the injured crew, while many of the frigates’ crews directed fire hoses on the burning hull. At the same time, helicopters brought sets of 38breathing apparatus and other fire-fighting gear from other ships. Those on the Sheffield helped to fight the blaze in the most grim and dangerous of conditions. They wanted to save not just the ship but her ammunition, including twenty-two Sea Dart missiles and other warheads in the forward magazine. Television crews were on hand to record the scenes as injured men were airlifted to the sick bay on HMS Hermes.

         After some four hours, those tackling the blaze finally accepted they were fighting a losing battle, and Captain Salt ordered the men to abandon ship. The officers and ratings who tried to get the weapons systems, main generator and other equipment working again formed the bulk of the twenty men who died. Twenty-six men were injured, mainly suffering from burns, smoke inhalation and shock.

         News of the tragedy reached Fleet Street by late afternoon London time. By 6 p.m., the Prime Minister knew, and Mrs Thatcher convened an emergency meeting with her senior politicians and advisors. With rumours swirling around that it was the aircraft carrier Invincible that had been hit, the decision was taken to come clean about what had happened straight away. Ian Mc-Donald, the Ministry of Defence’s acting chief of public relations, was called for a briefing with Defence Secretary John Nott. The main BBC news was interrupted, and the British public learnt the news from the lips of McDonald:

         
            In the course of its duties within the Total Exclusion Zone around the Falkland Islands, HMS Sheffield, a Type-42 destroyer, was attacked and hit late this afternoon by an Argentine missile. The ship caught fire, which spread out of control. When there was no longer any hope of saving the ship, the ship’s company abandoned ship.

         

         Some 12 million viewers hung on his every word. 39

         In the House of Commons, Nott came into the chamber shortly before 11 p.m. and spoke of casualties (dead and wounded) – initially eleven and then, after receiving a note, thirty. There was a limit to the bad news politicians wanted the public to see and hear: an interview on 7 May with Captain Salt, along with pictures of the smouldering hulk plus interviews with survivors, was not screened until 26 May, by which time the land war was in full flow.

         The Sun, which was in the middle of a tabloid circulation war with the Daily Mirror, ran the following headline on 5 May: ‘British Warship Sunk by Argies’. The Daily Mirror, on the other hand, ran the headline ‘Too High a Price’ and urged politicians to find peace through diplomacy. As the tabloid war escalated, The Sun accused its rival of treason, while the Daily Mirror labelled its foe ‘the harlot of Fleet Street’.

         Unsurprisingly, the attack on the Sheffield came as a huge blow to both the Task Force and the British public. It was clear that the British fleet was vulnerable to attack and had one or more ‘weak spots’, while the enemy air force, with its apparently deadly Exocet missiles, was clearly no pushover. Many British sailors had died, and as the Task Force sailed on to the Falklands it was heading for a war that it could no longer be certain of winning. With the strike on the Sheffield coming so soon after the sinking of the Belgrano, both sides knew they were involved in a full-scale war that was likely to have heavy casualties on both sides. The rest of the world watched in disbelief as they observed two unlikely enemies heading for a major conflict over a tiny group of islands few had heard of prior to April 1982. Only the Exocet salesmen in Paris could afford to rub their hands with delight.

         Admiral Sandy Woodward had reluctantly agreed with the decision to abandon ship. Navy Commanders had expected the Sheffield to sink fairly quickly once she was abandoned, but in the event she refused to disappear beneath the waves. Eventually 40a salvage tug, Irishman, was ordered to take her in tow with the hope that, if she reached South Georgia or Ascension Island, she could be examined for useful information and her missiles could be saved. Photographs were also taken of the inside of the ship, which showed that the Exocet had not, in fact, exploded and the main damage to the ship had been caused by fire and secondary explosions. However, as the weather worsened, it became harder and harder for the tug to tow Sheffield. Finally, by 10 May, she simply had too much water on board to progress any further, and she was sunk between the Falkland Islands and South Georgia fully six days after being hit. Only one dead body was recovered from the Sheffield; the remains of nineteen other men sank with her.

         To this day, the wreck is a war grave and a protected area under the Protection of Military Remains Act 1986. A board of inquiry in June 1982 criticised the ship’s fire-fighting equipment, training and procedure. Furthermore, the fires in the Sheffield and other ships damaged by flames prompted a shift by the Royal Navy away from the nylon and synthetic fabrics then worn by British sailors. The synthetics had a tendency to melt onto the skin, causing more severe burns than if the crew had been wearing non-synthetic clothing. Incidentally, it is not known exactly what happened to the second Exocet that was fired from the attack aircraft on 4 May 1982, other than it missed its target, which may have been Invincible.

         Messenger, then aged twenty-one, had been working in the operations room of the ship when the missile struck. The explosion blew the door in, which knocked him out of his chair, and he was buried under the door and debris. Injured, he scrambled back to his post, but it soon became clear that he and his fellow crewmen would need to be evacuated from the burning ship. Messenger was eventually airlifted by helicopter to Hermes and then evacuated home. He received a hero’s welcome, first when he landed at RAF 41Brize Norton on 25 May and again at his home town of Swindon. Numerous articles were published about him and the loss of Sheffield, which his parents kept and collated in a scrapbook. In one article in his local paper, he was quoted as saying, ‘It’s great to be back – absolutely fantastic. I was in the Operations Room. A door was blown off, it hit me and I was knocked out of my chair. Stuff fell on me. I scrambled up to get to my post.’

         Messenger was discharged from the navy in the rank of Able Seaman (Radar) on 30 November 1984 after more than seven years’ service. Afterwards, he worked first as an IT consultant and then in the pharmaceutical industry. After the war, he married and was later divorced, but he and his wife had no children, living first in Swindon and later in Nailsea, near Bristol. After his divorce, he moved back in with his mother, but in his final years he was unable to work, suffering from mental health issues and heart disease. Messenger died from heart failure on 7 April 2009, aged just forty-eight.

         In an interview at her home in Swindon, Jean Messenger, his mother, told me:

         
            He was affected very badly by what he had seen and experienced. He didn’t like talking about the war, but he did once say to my husband and me, ‘Some of my comrades went down below deck to get some fire-fighting equipment. Then I heard them screaming and they never came back. I never saw them again.’

         

         Mrs Messenger added:

         
            He was a wonderful son. Before my husband died, Malcolm promised him he would look after me and he always did. But when Malcolm was ill himself, I looked after him. I am very, very proud of my son – for the courage that he showed in going to war and now that he has been chosen to appear in this book.42

         

         
            MICHAEL DAVID TOWNSEND

            Service: Royal Navy

            Final rank: Chief Petty Officer

            FALKLANDS WAR DECORATION / DISTINCTION:

            DISTINGUISHED SERVICE MEDAL (DSM)

            DATES OF BRAVERY: 21 AND 25 MAY 1982

            GAZETTED: 8 OCTOBER 1982

         

         Michael Townsend was decorated for outstanding bravery in what became known as ‘Bomb Alley’, or the Battle of San Carlos. The battle was largely between aircraft of the Argentine Air Force and ships from the Royal Navy. An intense and ferocious fight, it lasted from 21 to 25 May 1982, during the British landings on the shores of San Carlos Bay.

         Michael David Townsend was born in Heathfield, Sussex, on 13 August 1943, but he was brought up in Kent. The eldest of three boys, his father had served in the Royal Artillery during the Second World War before becoming a driver and site manager. After attending various primary schools, Townsend attended Morehall Secondary School in Folkestone, Kent. He left school aged fifteen to fulfil his ambition to join the Royal Navy, signing up on 10 February 1959. Initially, Townsend was a junior Marine engineering mechanic, better known simply as a ‘stoker’. For the next two decades, he travelled the world with the navy, including several visits to the Falkland Islands.

         By 2 April 1982, when the islands were invaded, Townsend, then aged thirty-eight and married with two children, had already served for twenty-three years in the Royal Navy on numerous ships. He was serving in the rank of Chief Petty Officer Marine engineering mechanic (mechanical) when he sailed to the 43Falklands on HMS Argonaut, a Leander-class frigate that had been part of the Royal Navy since 1967. On the day of the invasion of the Falkland Islands, Townsend and his fellow crew were in Portland, Dorset, following their recent return from a six-month assignment to the Persian Gulf. Within days, they were on their way to the South Atlantic. As Townsend told me in an interview at his home in Yalding, Kent, ‘We knew we were going to go and kick them [the Argentines] off.’ Townsend’s specific role on the ship was fire-fighting and damage-control logistics, so before going to war he had ordered extra fire-fighting equipment.

         The Argonaut was one of two warships, along with HMS Ardent, that escorted troop-carrying merchant ships to the Falklands via Ascension Island over a voyage of more than five weeks. By 21 May, the ship was vulnerable to enemy attack off the Falklands, having just escorted HMS Fearless into Falkland Sound. Admiral Sandy Woodward sets the scene in his book, One Hundred Days:

         
            Then it began. An Argentinian light attack two-seater jet aircraft, the Italian built Naval Macchi 339, flying at wave-top height along the northern coast, swung suddenly into the narrow entrance to Falkland Sound, going as fast as he could. The first ship he saw was [Captain] Kit Layman’s Argonaut and he fired all eight of his five-inch rockets at the frigate, coming on in low and raking the decks with 30mm cannon shells. One rocket hit the Seacat missile deck area and injured three men – one of whom lost an eye; another, the Master-at-Arms, took a piece of shrapnel one inch above his heart.

            The attack had been so swift and sudden that the raider was making his escape away to the south-east before any kind of hardware could be aimed at him. As it was, they had a shot at him with a Blowpipe missile from the deck of Canberra; Intrepid launched a Seacat missile and David Pentreath opened up with the 4.5in. guns 44of Plymouth. But the Macchi got away doubtless to stagger his High Command with the tale of what he had just seen spread out below him in Carlos Water…

            Back in Carlos Water another hour went by before the Argentinians sent in their most lethal and sustained air raid of the day. It would last for just over half an hour and it did great damage. The opening assault was made by six Skyhawks flying extremely low along the north coast, out of sight of all our radars. As swiftly as any of the opening attacks, they came through the narrows at more than 500 knots. There they found Kit Layman’s Argonaut, from which the crew was desperately trying to evacuate their wounded by helicopter over to Canberra. At the last moment the Argonauts saw them and opened fire with everything they had, but they had no hope whatsoever of stopping all six. Five made it through, dropping a total of ten thousand-pounders, eight of which exploded in the water close to the embattled Leander Class frigate. The other two hit her, but mercifully failed to explode. The first one hit forward, going through a diesel fuel tank and coming to rest in the Seacat magazine, starting a fire and causing considerable structural damage … The second bomb wrecked the boiler room turbo generator electrical switch panel and it also wrecked the port boiler turbo force draft fan.

            Argonaut was perilously close to the rocks around Fanning Head and still going ahead with effectively no brakes and no steering. With remarkable presence of mind, Sub-Lieutenant Peter Morgan (D.S.C.) raced off the bridge, collecting a couple of ratings as he went, and managed to let go the anchor, which dragged the three-thousand-tonner to a halt, just short of the shoreline. Seconds later they lost all power, there was almost total devastation in certain parts of the ship and, with two men killed in the magazine, Argonaut’s war was almost over.

         

         45I have obtained a copy of the ship’s hand-written engine-room diary for Friday 21 May 1982, which recorded the day’s dramatic events succinctly:

         
            Arrived off Falkland Sound at 0630. 0900 – Action Stations. 1246 – Under attack from aircraft – three casualties. 1312 – Under attack from aircraft. 1432 – Under attack from aircraft. 1540 – Under attack from aircraft. 1726 – Under attack from aircraft – hit by 2x1,000lb bombs, one in the boiler room, port aft corner, the other in forward sea cat magazine. Fortunately neither exploded. Engine and boiler room evacuated. Command damage control … two dead. Ship stopped in the water. Ship was at full ahead when bombs hit and machinery spaces evacuated.

         

         At lunchtime on 21 May, an enemy Pucará aircraft had attacked the Argonaut, spraying fire on the deck and injuring three crew. The citation for Townsend’s DSM takes up the story of his own involvement in the drama that took place after the major air attack later that day:

         
            On 21 May 1982, during intensive enemy air attacks, HMS Argonaut was struck by two bombs which did not explode, one lodging in the boiler room and the second entering the forward magazine through a fuel tank. Chief Marine Engineering Mechanic Townsend re-entered the boiler room to assess the damage and then organised and carried out the patching of a hole in the ship’s hull at the waterline measuring 4ft in diameter. He worked firstly inboard, passing over and working within 5ft of the unexploded bomb, and then hanging over the side of the ship during continuing air attacks and the subsequent tow.

            He then, without a break, attacked the flooding and damage 46caused by the second bomb. He directed and personally carried out pumping operations above the magazine containing this unexploded bomb and packed with explosives. He continued to search compartments flooded with diesel fuel for almost forty-eight hours.

            Chief Marine Engineering Mechanic Townsend worked with no regard for his own safety. His fearlessness and resolute stamina in helping to overcome severe damage was a major factor in saving the ship.

         

         Townsend told me that when the first bomb hit the ship, he was on the second of three decks in the ‘switchboard’ area, which was used for distributing electricity. ‘When the ship was hit, it jumped up and I was thrown across the switchboard and I smashed my face. The force broke my nose and broke three of my front teeth,’ he recalled. As a fire broke out, Townsend, wearing standard synthetic overalls, was soon organising the fire-fighting operation as the sea water rose up to their necks, having poured through a gaping hole in the ship. He told me:

         
            Once the bombs hit us, we lost all electrical power. They got the emergency diesel running but the trouble was the young engineers didn’t know they were actually sucking in sea water because one of the bombs had gone through the fuel tank. About 350 tons of diesel from the tank was therefore on top of the water on two deck. I had about ten men with hoses to fight the fire for nearly two hours before we put the flames out.

         

         Once the fire was put out, bomb-disposal experts, Staff Sergeant Jim Prescott and Warrant Officer 2 (WO2) John Phillips of the Royal Engineers, from another ship were able to defuse the first bomb and make it safe. Townsend said: 47

         
            There was so much water from the gaping hole in the fuel tank and magazine that we couldn’t pump it out with our equipment, so the rescue tug sent over some large pumps. We managed to get the water level down and that’s when we found the [dead] bodies of two of our sailors. At this point I put on a rubber diving suit in order to hang out on ropes to try to patch up the hole in the boiler room. For some of this time, we were still under attack. Initially, I told my stokers and the seamen, ‘If we come under attack, drop me in the water.’ But the sea was so cold that I soon told them, ‘Don’t drop me in the water again. I would rather get shot than freeze to death!’ At one point, I spent about four and a half hours in near-freezing temperatures, hanging from ropes as I patched up the side of the ship.

         

         Townsend and his team then had to address the second bomb in the magazine. This could not be defused because its nose had been damaged. The men worked day and night for four days to find a way to remove the bomb from the ship and lower it onto the seabed. Townsend said:

         
            The second bomb, which set off two Seacat missiles when it landed in the ship’s magazine, could not be defused. Basically, we had to rig up ropes and pulleys to get the bomb up to the second deck level, and then we had to cut a hole in the side of the ship and put the bomb overboard. Most of the ship’s company were taken off while we were doing that. I can tell you it was pretty frightening. We were under constant threat of air attack. I was too busy getting on with the job. I didn’t sleep for four days. We were given drugs, pills called ‘pinkies’ and ‘blueies’, to keep us awake and then, right at the end, to sedate us. After getting rid of the live bombs, engineers came on board to weld up the hole in two deck above the magazine 48where the forward magazine live bomb had been removed from the ship. A spark from the welding ignited the diesel fumes in the mattresses and clothing in the mess deck and the ship caught fire yet again. We had to fight this blaze for another three hours.

         

         Naval Commanders decided the ship could be saved and should limp back to Britain with a limited crew, including Townsend. The Argonaut returned to Plymouth, Devon, in late June, shortly after the enemy had surrendered. ‘We were the first ship to return to England. They tried to keep it quiet, but we got in at 9 a.m. on a Saturday morning.’ Townsend was met on the quayside on 26 June 1982 by his wife, Mary, and his brother, Barry.

         Staff Sergeant Jim Prescott of 49 Squadron Royal Engineers, who had worked with Townsend and his team to defuse the bomb on Argonaut on 21 May, was killed two days later while defusing one of two unexploded bombs on board HMS Antelope. His colleague WO2 Phillips was badly injured, losing one of his arms.

         Townsend’s DSM was announced on 8 October in The London Gazette. On 22 October 1982, Captain Christopher ‘Kit’ Layman, who had been in command of the Argonaut when the ship was bombed, wrote a hand-written letter of congratulations to Townsend, which even had a joke at the end that was typical of the black humour enjoyed in the Armed Forces. Layman, who had moved on to captain HMS Cleopatra and who was decorated with the DSO for his own bravery and leadership in the Falklands, wrote:
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